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FBAR Requirements
• The rules governing FBAR filing and FBAR penalties are codified in Title 31
(Money and Finance) of the U.S. Code.
• Who has legal obligation to file an FBAR:

•
•
•
•
•
•

A “US Person”;
Having a “financial interest” in, or “signature authority” or “other authority” over;
One or more “financial accounts”;
Located in a “foreign country”;
Aggregate value of such amount(s) exceeded $10,000;
At any time during the calendar year.
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FBAR Penalties
Willful Penalty

Non-willful Penalty
• The Secretary “may impose a civil money penalty” on any person who
violates the FBAR requirements.
• In case of a non-willful penalty, the amount shall not exceed $10,000
per violation. 31 U.S.C 5321(a)(5)(B)(i).
• 31 U.S.C. 5321(a)(5)(B)(ii) states that no penalty shall be imposed if
“such violation was due to reasonable cause” and “the amount of the
transaction or the balance in the account at the time of the transaction
was properly reported.”
• “Reasonable Cause” is not defined in the Bank Secrecy Act or its
regulations. The IRS uses Treas. Reg. 1.6664-4 as guidance to
determine whether reasonable cause exists. IRM 4.26.16.3.1.
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• 31 U.S.C. 5321(a)(1)(C) states that in the case of a willful
violation, the maximum penalty shall be increased to the
greater of $100,000 or 50 percent of the balance in the
account at the time of the violation.
• The reasonable cause exception does not apply. 31 U.S.C.
5321(a)(1)(C)(ii).
• For a failure to report an account or any required identifying
information, the amount of the penalty is based on the
balance in the account at the time of the violation. 31 U.S.C.
5321(a)(1)(D).

Pre-Litigation Compromise
• Under an agreement with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, the IRS
investigates and assesses penalties for FBAR violations.
• After the IRS proposes an FBAR penalty, the person can appeal to IRS Office of
Appeals.
• In a pre-assessment appeal, the Office of Appeals can compromise a penalty
without DOJ approval. IRM 8.20.7.32.3 (10-03-14)
• In a post-assessment appeal, the Office of Appeals cannot compromise a penalty
of more than $100,000 (excluding interest) without DOJ approval because an
assessed FBAR penalty is a claim of the U.S. Government. 31 U.S.C. 3711(a)(2);
31 C.F.R. 902.1.
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FBAR Litigation
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Tax Court Jurisdiction
• Tax Court does not have jurisdiction over an FBAR penalty since it is not assessed
under Title 26 and is not subject to deficiency procedures. Williams v.
Commissioner, 131 T.C. 54 (2008).
• Since the FBAR penalty is not assessed under Title 26, CDP procedures do not
apply.
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Jurisdiction
• To collect an FBAR penalty through judicial proceeding, the United States must
file a complaint in a U.S. district court. 28 U.S.C. 1345.
• The United States may also collect penalty through administrative offsets.

• Venue for recovery of a pecuniary penalty is in the district where the penalty
“accrues” or where the defendant is found. 28 U.S.C. 1395.
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Jurisdiction – Suit Against Government
• A suit to recover payments toward an FBAR penalty can be brought in a district court or in the
Court of Federal Claims (CFC).
• The Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. 1491, gives CFC jurisdiction and waives sovereign immunity. Norman v.
United States, 126 Fed. Cl. 277 (2017).
• In Norman, the U.S. unsuccessfully argued that under 28 U.S.C. 1355(a) (which gives district courts jurisdiction over any
action to enforce or recover a fine, penalty, or forfeiture) preempts CFC jurisdiction. The U.S. did not appeal this ruling
to the Federal Circuit. Norman v. United States, No. 2018-2408 (Fed. Cir. Nov. 8, 2019)

• District courts have jurisdiction for claims against the United States for amounts not in excess of
$10,000. 28 U.S.C. 1346(a)(2).
•

In Bedrosian v. United States, the Third Circuit sua sponte declined to hold that the District Court initially had jurisdiction under the
Little Tucker Act because the FBAR penalty is a penalty imposed under the “internal revenue laws” and is thus governed 28 U.S.C.
1346(a)(2), and therefore, the Flora full payment rule should apply. But because the U.S. counterclaimed for the full amount of the
penalty, the District Court acquired jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 1345. Moreover, the Third Circuit ruled that it had appellate
jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 1295(a)(2) because the FBAR statute “provides for internal revenue.” Bedrosian v. United States, No. 173525 (3d Cir. Dec. 21, 2018).
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Statute of Limitations-Suit by United States
• A suit to collect FBAR penalty must be brought within two years of the later of
the assessment date or the date a criminal judgment becomes final involving a
transaction with respect to which the penalty was imposed. 31 U.S.C.
5321(b)(2).
• Unlike 26 U.S.C. 6501(c)(4)(A), there is no language in 31 U.S.C. 5321 requiring
that a waiver of the statute of limitations be in writing signed before expiration
of the limitations period. See United States v. Schwarzbaum, No. 9:18-cv-81147
(S.D. Fla. 8-23-2019) (Title 31 does not expressly prohibit extensions of the
applicable statutes of limitations by agreement)
• In the non-tax context, statute of limitations is an affirmative defense that can be
waived if it is not asserted in the pleadings.
• Query: If the person signs a waiver with the IRS after the normal assessment
period expires, is the waiver valid and can it be revoked?
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Statute of Limitations-Suit by Person Assessed
• A suit to recover payment toward an FBAR penalty must be brought within six
years after payment, whether voluntary, through offset or through collection. 28
U.S.C. 2401, 2501(a).
• Since the FBAR penalty is not a tax, the full payment rule under Flora v United
States, 362 U.S. 145 (1960), does not apply. But see Bedrosian v. United States,
No. 17-3525 (3d Cir. Dec. 21, 2018) (In dicta, the court opined that Flora full
payment rule should apply).
• Since the FBAR penalty is not a tax, a refund claim is not required.
• The two-year period of limitations for the Government to counterclaim to collect
an FBAR penalty may tolled if a suit to recover a payment is filed before the twoyear period expires. Burlington Industries Inc. v Milliken & Co., 690 F.2d 380, 389
(4th Cir. 1982) (filing of suit tolls limitations period for compulsory counterclaim).
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Statute of Limitations-Suit by Person Assessed
• Unclear whether district court has jurisdiction for recovery of over $10,000 paid
towards an FBAR assessment: if a suit can be brought under 28 U.S.C. 1355(a), it
would have jurisdiction but if under 28 U.S.C. 1341 (Little Tucker Act) it wouldn’t
• Appeal from CFC judgment is to Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, 28
U.S.C. 1295(a); appeal from a district court decision is to court of appeal for the
circuit in which the district court is located. 28 U.S.C. 1294.
• Jury trial is not available in CFC or in a suit in district court to recover a payment;
jury trial is available in suit by U.S. to collect FBAR penalty or if U.S.
counterclaims for the unpaid balance of the penalty in a district court case. 28
U.S.C. 2402; Tull v. United States, 481 U.S. 412 (1987)
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FBAR Litigation in Other Forums
• Bankruptcy Court
• FBAR penalty cannot be discharged in bankruptcy. 11 U.S.C. 523(a)(7) (non-tax fines,
penalties and forfeitures are exempt from discharge); United States v. Simonelli, 614
F.Supp. 2d 241 (D. Conn. 2008)
• A debtor against whom an FBAR penalty has been assessed can litigate the merits of
the Government’s claim through either an objection to claim or an adversary
proceeding.
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The Administrative Procedure Act and FBAR Penalty
• APA does not give district court jurisdiction over suit for pre-payment judicial
review of FBAR penalty since the Little Tucker Act and the Tucker Act provide an
adequate remedy at law. 5 U.S.C. 704 (final agency action reviewable if it is one
“for which there is no adequate legal remedy in a court”); Kentera v. United
States, 2017 US Dist LEXIS 12450 (ED Wis. 2017).
• A taxpayer who has paid all or part of a penalty may be able to challenge
assessment under APA as arbitrary and capricious if IRS cannot produce
contemporaneous evidence showing a rational basis for determination. United
States v. Schwarzbaum, No. 9:18-cv-81147 (S.D. Fla. 3-20, 2020); Moore v United
States, 2015 US Dist LEXIS 43979, subs. proc. 2015 US Dist LEXIS 99804 (WD
Wash. 2015); but see Kentera, supra.
• The amount of the FBAR penalty is reviewed for abuse of discretion under the
APA’s arbitrary and capricious standards. Jones v. U.S., 2020 WL 2803353
(C.D.CA).

19 | © 2020 Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered

Pleadings
• A complaint or counterclaim must allege every element needed to establish that
the party is entitled to the relief requested
• Where Government fails to plead facts sufficient to show willfulness, complaint
can be dismissed (with leave to amend). United States v. Pomerantz, 2017 US
Dist LEXIS 88448 (WD WA 2017).
• Any affirmative defense must be raised in the answer or it is deemed waived
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Burden of Proof
• Government has burden of proof to show that the person assessed is liable.
• Government’s burden of proof is by a preponderance, even where there is a
willful penalty. United States v. McBride, 908 F. Supp. 2d 1186, 1201 (D. Utah
2012); United States v. Garrity, 304 F.Supp. 3d 267, 270-271 (D. Conn. 2018).
• Query: Should Government’s burden of proof be by clear and convincing
evidence?
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Willfulness Slide 1
• Willfulness for purposes of the Bank Secrecy Act (which includes the FBAR
penalty) requires a “voluntary violation of a known legal duty.” Ratzlaf v. United
States, 510 US 135, 142 (1994) (criminal prosecution for structuring deposits to
evade currency reporting requirements).
• Willfulness can be inferred based on a person’s conduct, which can include
conscious avoidance. United States v. Sturman, 951 F.2d 1466 (6th Cir. 1991)
(circumstantial evidence, including the defendant’s reading Schedule B to Form
1040 but not attempting to learn of FBAR reporting requirements, supported
conviction for criminal FBAR violation).
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Willfulness Slide 2
• United States v. Williams, 489 Fed. App’x 655 (4th Cir. 2012), held that willfulness
focuses on intent not motive, that willfulness includes “willful blindness” and
“reckless” conduct, and that the defendant’s signing of his tax return is prima facie
evidence he knew the Schedule B questions about foreign accounts and that put him
on notice to inquire about FBAR filing requirements. The court viewed defendant’s
testimony that he did not read the return or Schedule B as a conscious effort to avoid
learning about his FBAR obligation.
• Willfulness “may be proven ‘through inference from conduct meant to conceal or
mislead sources of income or other financial information’ and it ‘can be inferred from
a conscious effort to avoid learning about reporting requirements.’” Williams, at 658
(citing Sturman).
• But see IRC Section 6064 (taxpayer’s signature on the return “shall be prima facie
evidence that the return… was actually signed by him”); U.S. v. Trevino, 419 F.3rd 896
(9th Cir. 2004) (finding that the government’s jury instructions that a signature on the
return is prima facie evidence of taxpayer’s knowledge of the contents of the return is
not supported by IRC Section 6064 on which it was purportedly based)
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Willfulness Slide 3
• United States v. McBride, supra, followed Williams and held that a taxpayer’s
signature on a tax return is sufficient proof that he knew the instructions
contained in the return and, thus, was on notice of a possible FBAR filing
requirement.
• Note: Both Williams and McBride involved defendants who were convicted of tax
evasion that included setting up foreign bank accounts as part of elaborate tax
evasion schemes.
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Willfulness Slide 4
Subsequent cases have followed Williams and McBride on evidence needed to establish a willful
violation.
• Norman v. United States, supra (knowing or reckless failure to file sufficient to establish
willfulness);
• Garrity v. United States, supra (willful violation proven by evidence of reckless conduct, the
Government does not need to show a voluntary and intentional violation of a known legal duty);
• Bedrosian v. United States, 2017 US Dist LEXIS 154625, *10, *11 (ED PA 2017) (holding that
knowing or reckless failure to file FBAR sufficient to prove willful violation and rejecting need to
prove a voluntary, intentional violation of a known legal duty), aff’d by the Third Circuit, supra (“a
person ‘recklessly’ fails to comply with an IRS filing requirement when he or she ‘(1) clearly ought
to have known that (2) there was a grave risk that [the filing requirement was not being met and
if (3) he [or she] was in a position to find out for certain very easily’”);
• The DOJ raised for the first time in its post-trial brief the argument that the district court
should interpret willfulness for purposes of civil FBAR penalties by considering this same
term in the context of trust fund recovery penalties under Section 6672. The district court
agreed with this, in theory.
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Willfulness Slide 5
Subsequent cases have followed Williams and McBride on evidence
needed to establish a willful violation – Continued
• United States v. Bohanec, 263 F. Supp. 3d 881 (CD CA 2016) (reckless
indifference enough to establish willful violation).
• United States v. DeMauro, No 17-CV-640-JL (D. NH 8/28/2020)
(“DeMauro acted recklessly and thus ‘willfully,’ by failing to seek
professional tax advice on foreign accounts she knew were earning
income. Even if DeMauro did not consciously avoid learning about the
FBAR reporting requirements, she at the very least should have
surmised that there was a grave risk she was not meeting her tax-filing
obligations.”)
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Willfulness Slide 6
• One district court has rejected “constructive knowledge” as a basis for imposing
an FBAR willful penalty
• United States v. Flume, 5:16-cv-00073 (S.D. TX 8-22-2018), the court denied
Government motion for summary judgment in an FBAR willful penalty case
• The Flume court gave three reasons for rejecting constructive knowledge as a
basis for liability: 1) it ignores the distinction between willful and non-willful; 2)
the court would be exceeding its summary-judgment authority if it assumed
knowledge where the taxpayer testified that he did not know of the FBAR
requirements until subsequent to the due date for the FBAR report; 3)
“constructive knowledge” allows the court to ignore lack of actual knowledge for
policy reasons. Post trial, the court reaffirmed it’s position on its prior rejection
of “constructive knowledge” theory. United States v. Flume, 5:16-cv-00073 (S.D.
TX 6-11-2019)
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Willfulness Slide 7
• Since 31 USC 5321 and 31 USC 5322 were enacted at the same time, shouldn’t
they be read in pari materia and the Ratzlaf definition of willful apply to civil
FBAR penalties?
• NB: Virtually identical definitions of “willful” applies to both civil and criminal
trust fund cases. Compare: United States v. Easterday, 594 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir.
2009) (criminal trust fund prosecution defining willful as a voluntary, intentional
violation of a known legal duty) and Phillips v United States, 73 F.3d 939, 942 (9th
Cir. 1996) (civil trust fund penalty case defining willful as “voluntary, conscious
and intentional” preference of other creditors over the Government).
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Willfulness Slide 8
• Are the courts in FBAR cases correctly applying the correct standard for
“reckless” and “conscious disregard”? See Safeco Insurance Co. v. Burr, 551 U.S.
47 (2007) (recklessness needed to establish willful conduct requires action
entailing “an unjustifiably high risk of harm that is either known or so obvious
that it should be known. *** It is this high risk of harm, objectively assessed, that
is the essence of recklessness at common law.”); Global-Tech Appliances, Inc. v.
SEB S.A., 563 U.S. 754, 769-770 (2011)(discussing willful blindness needed to
establish willfulness: “a willfully blind defendant is one who takes deliberate
actions to avoid confirming a high probability of wrongdoing and who can almost
be said to have actually known the critical facts.” Deliberate indifference is
insufficient to establish that the person acted knowingly or willfully.)
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Willfulness Slide 9
• In finding willfulness, multiple courts followed McBride, placing significant emphasis on the signature on the tax return
as evidence of willfulness.
• Norman v. United States, No. 18-2408 (Fed. Cir. 11-08-2019) (affirming district court’s finding of willfulness
because “at the very least, Ms. Norman signed her 2007 tax return—which falsely indicated that she owned no
interest in any foreign bank account—knowing that she owned a foreign bank account and controlled the assets
within”)
• Kimble v. United States, 141 Fed. Cl. 373 (2018) (failure to review her tax returns and falsely representing under
penalties of perjury that taxpayer did not know foreign bank accounts coupled with the knowledge of the foreign
bank accounts “exhibit a ‘reckless disregard’ of the legal duty” to file FBARs)
• United States v. Rum, No. 8:17-cv-826 (M.D. Fla, 8-2-2019) (taxpayer’s failure to review the returns while
repeatedly signing and falsely representing under penalty of perjury that he did have a foreign account “in it of
itself supports a finding of ‘reckless disregard’”)
• United States v. Horowitz, 361 F. Supp. 3d 511, (D. Md. 2019) (Horowitzs’ reckless disregard of the FBAR filing
requirements is evidenced by signing their returns under penalty of perjury that put them on inquiry notice of the
FBAR requirement)
• But see United States v. Flume, 5:16-cv-00073 (S.D. TX 6-11-2019) (conducting a holistic analysis of facts and
circumstances to find that defendant acted willfully)
• But see U.S. v. Schwarzbaum, 2020 WL 1316232 (S.D.FL 3/21/2020) (constructive knowledge merely because a
taxpayer signed a return would render the distinction between non-willful and willful meaningless)
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Standard of Appellate Review
• The Third Circuit held that the standard of review for the district court’s
willfulness determination is clear error. Bedrosian v. United States, No. 17-3525
(3d Cir. Dec. 21, 2018).
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Reasonable Cause Defense
• Non-willful penalty has a statutory reasonable cause defense if the person properly reported the balance in
the account. 31 U.S.C. 5321(a)(5)(B)(ii). Jarnagin v. United States, 134 Fed. Cl. 368 (2017) (Reasonable cause
includes “an honest misunderstanding of fact or law that is reasonable in light of the facts and
circumstances, including the experience, knowledge and education of taxpayer” however, reliance on an
information return or on the advice of professional tax advisor does not necessarily constitute reasonable
cause unless such reliance was reasonable and taxpayers acted in good faith); United States v. Ott, No. 18cv-12174 (E.D. Mich. 2019) (finding no reasonable cause where the taxpayer has not shown that she took
steps to learn whether she was required to report her foreign accounts)
• Reasonable cause defense in 5321(a)(5)(B)(ii) may not available if a willful penalty is asserted.
5321(a)(5)(C)(ii).
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Reasonable Cause Defense
• Reliance on advice of tax professional a defense that may negate willfulness. Bedrosian v United States,
2017 US Dist LEXIS 154625 (ED PA 2017); United States v. Flume, 5:16-cv-00073 (S.D. TX 8-22-2018).
• But see United States v. Dadurian, 9:18-cv-81276 (S.D. Fla 6-24-2019) (“[W]hile relying on professional tax advice
may demonstrate reasonable cause for underpayment of tax liability,… reasonable cause is not a defense to a willful
FBAR reporting violation”).
• But see U.S. v. Schwarzbaum, 2020 WL 1316232 (S.D.FL) (by relying on his CPA’s advice and reporting accounts with
a U.S. connection, the court found the taxpayer did not violate the willful FBAR reporting requirement, even though
he failed to disclose all of his accounts. But in later years, once the taxpayer became aware of reporting
requirements by reading the FBAR instructions, he could not rely on previous advice of counsel and his conduct was
deemed willful).
• Jones v. U.S., 2020 WL 2803353 (C.D.CA) (taxpayer was denied summary judgment after court found a genuine
dispute of material fact as to whether the taxpayer established reasonable cause when relying on a hired
accountant and filed qualified amended returns prior to contact from the IRS)
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FBAR Penalties and the Excessive Fines Clause – Slide 1
• The 8th Amendment prohibits “excessive fines.”
• Under United States v. Bajakajian, 525 U.S. 321 (1998), a court must apply the
following factors to determine if a fine or penalty is excessive:
• The nature and extent of the violation
• Other related illegal activity
• The amount of the penalty authorized by Congress and the class of people to whom the
statute is directed
• Comparison with criminal penalties for the same offense and
• Harm caused
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FBAR Penalties and the Excessive Fines Clause – Slide 2
• Several cases have challenged FBAR penalties as violating the excessive fines
clause.
• United States v. Zwerner, 1:13-cv-22082 (SD FL), a jury found defendant liable for
50% willful penalties for three years. Defendant moved to set aside the
judgment as violating the excessive fines clause. The case was settled prior to a
ruling on the motion.
• Moore v. United States, 2:13-cv-02063 (WD WA ), the district court rejected an
8th Amendment challenge to a nonwillful penalty that equaled 10% of the
account value, holding it was not disproportionate.
• Crawford v. United States, 3:15-cv-00250 (SD OH 9.29.15) the district court
rejected an 8th Amendment facial challenge, holding that “the maximum penalty
will be constitutional in at least some circumstances.
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FBAR Penalties and the Excessive Fines Clause – Slide 3
• United States v. Bussell, No. 16-55272 (9th Cir. 2017), the Court affirmed a
district court’s decision reducing a $1.22 million FBAR penalty to $1.12
million based on application of the Bajakajian factors. The Ninth Circuit
rejected the argument that the judgment violated the excessive fines
clause:
• The defendant had previously been convicted of concealing assets in a bankruptcy
case and tax evasion, with an intended loss of over $3 million
• The Ninth Circuit rejected the excessive fines challenge because “the assessment
against her is not grossly disproportional to the harm she caused because Bussell
defrauded the government and reduced public revenues. See United States v.
Mackby, 339 F.3d 1013, 1017–18 (9th Cir. 2003). Therefore, Bussell has failed to
carry her burden to establish that the penalty is grossly disproportional to her
offense.”

• United States v. Garrity, No. 3:15-cv-243 (D. Conn. Feb. 28, 2019), the
Court found that the FBAR penalty did not violate the Excessive Fines
Clause under the Bajakajian factors.
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Maximum Amount of FBAR Willful Penalty – Slide 1
• Statute sets maximum amount of willful penalty at greater of 50% of account
balance at time of violation or $100,000
• Regulation 31 C.F.R. 1010.820(g)(2) sets willful penalty at the greater of the
account balance (not to exceed $100,000) or $25,000.
• In United States v. Colliott, 2018 US Dist LEXIS 83159 (WD TX 2018) court held
that regulation controls and maximum penalty cannot exceed $100,000. Accord
United States v. Wahdan, 2018 US Dist LEXIS 119910 (D. Colo. 2018).
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Maximum Amount of FBAR Willful Penalty – Slide 2
• Government in Colliot has asserted that if maximum penalty set by the
regulation, then it can assess up to $100,000 for each account for which there
was a violation.
• Applying the regulation to each account separately can result in a larger penalty
than the statutory 50%
• Under Colliot, if a person has multiple unreported smaller accounts the amount
of the penalty would be greater than if there was one large account
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Maximum Amount of FBAR Willful Penalty – Slide 3
• A number of courts following Colliott and Wahdan, including the Federal Circuit,
have held that Regulation 31 C.F.R. 1010.820(g)(2) is inconsistent with the 2004
amendments to 31 U.S.C. 5321, and therefore was superseded or invalidated by
the amended statute.
• Norman v. United States, No. 2018-2408 (Fed. Cir. Nov. 8, 2019);
• United States v. Garrity, No. 3:15-cv-243 (D. Conn. Feb. 28, 2019);
• United States v. Horowitz, 361 F. Supp. 3d 511 (D. Md. 2019);
• Kimble v. United States, 141 Fed. Cl. 373 (2018);
• United States v. Park, No. 16-c-10787 (N.D. Ill. 5-24-2019);
• United States v. Schoenfeld, No. 3:16-cv-01248 (M.D. Fla., 6-25-2019); and
• United States v. Rum, No. 8:17-cv-826 (M.D. Fla., 9-26-2019)
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How Many Assessments Can Be Made
• Under statute, assessments can be made for every year for which there is a
violation
• IRS policy where penalties may be assessed for multiple years is generally not to
assess willful penalties for more than 100 percent of the highest balance in the
accounts. SBSE-04-0515-0025.
• Statute penalizes any violation of the FBAR requirements:
• If FBAR is filed and there are multiple accounts that are not accurately reported how
many penalties can be assessed
• If FBAR is not filed, is there one violation or multiple violations
• In United States v. Boyd, No. 2:18-cv-00803 (C.D. Cal. 4-23-2019), the court analyzed the
language of 31 U.S.C. 5321(a)(5)(B) and determined that a separate non-willful penalty
can be imposed for failure to report each account on an FBAR, rather than one $10,000
penalty for failure to file an FBAR. This case is currently on appeal to the Ninth Circuit.
• But see United States v. Bittner, 2020 WL 3498082 (E.D.TX) (court held that non-willful
penalties should be assessed per-FBAR and not per-account).
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Fifth Amendment
• U.S. v. Fridman, 18-3530-cv (2nd Cir.), a taxpayer was issued summonses, both in his personal capacity
and as trustee of a trust, and asserted Fifth Amendment privilege. The government filed a petition to
enforce the summonses. The court held that “the Government has met its burden of proving
knowledge of the existence of the documents, knowledge of Fridman’s control over the documents, and
an independent means of authenticating of the documents as required by” the circuit’s case law,
affirming enforcement of the summons against him in his personal capacity. As the act of producing the
documents would not provide any information that was not already a “foregone conclusion,” there was
no Fifth Amendment protection to assert. The court also held that the trust did not have Fifth
Amendment protection “because the Fifth Amendment privilege protects only natural persons.”
• U.S. v. Bernstein, 19-cv-2912 (EDNY 9/14/2020), an FBAR filed with a good faith claim of the Fifth
Amendment privilege against self incrimination pursuant to an advice of a qualified tax attorney, was
nevertheless a willful violation of the FBAR reporting requirements for the purpose of the FBAR civil
penalty because defendants made a “voluntary, deliberate, and willful choice” to file the FBAR in such
manner.
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Post-Judgment Proceedings
• A judgment in favor of the United States creates a lien in favor of the United
States upon filing of a certified copy of the abstract of judgment. 28 U.S.C. Sec.
3201(a).
• The lien lasts for 20 years and can be renewed for an additional 20 years. 28
U.S.C. Sec. 3201(c).
• A defendant against whom the United States has a judgment lien cannot receive
any grants or loans made, insured or financed by the United States. 28 U.S.C.
Sec. 3201(e).
• The United States can execute judgment against the judgment debtor’s real and
personal property and obtain a writ of garnishment. 28 U.S.C. Secs. 3201(f),
3202, 3203, 3205.
• The United States can use discovery tools to locate assets of a judgment debtor.
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Questions
James Dawson, Partner
Holland & Knight LLP
561.650.8352
Jim.dawson@hklaw.com
Zhanna A. Ziering, Member
Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered
212.379.6075
zziering@capdale.com
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